STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 20 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000925
Circuit Court Case No. 2012-CP-23-07837

Gerald Brown, #174505,

PETITIONER,

v.

State of South Carolina,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

**JOSHUA SNOW KENDRICK
CHRISTOPHER S. LEONARD**

Kendrick & Leonard, P.C.
P.O. Box 6938
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 760-4000

ATTORNEYS FOR THE PETITIONER

KAREN RATIGAN
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
State of South Carolina
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE AT PETITIONER BROWN'S TRIAL.
 - a. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CONDUCT MEANINGFUL PRETRIAL INVESTIGATION AND PREPARATION.
 - b. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO LOCATE AND CALL AN EXULPATORY WITNESS AT BROWN'S TRIAL.
 - c. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO DISCOVER AND POINT OUT SERIOUS INCONSISTENCIES IN THE VICTIM'S TESTIMONY.
 - d. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO INTRODUCE CRITICAL EVIDENCE AT BROWN'S TRIAL.

- II. APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO RAISE A VALID AND PRESERVED ARGUMENT IN BROWN'S DIRECT APPEAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Gerald Brown was indicted in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions on the following charges: possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime; assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature; impersonating law enforcement; malicious injury to a police dog; burglary in the first degree; armed robbery; three counts of kidnapping; and resisting arrest.

Maintaining his innocence of these crimes, Petitioner was tried by a jury April 14 – 16, 2009, in front of the Honorable Edward Miller. He was convicted of all counts. Based on a notice of enhancement filed by the State, Brown was sentenced to life without parole, plus five years consecutive.

Brown appealed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, raising one issue related to his sentence. On May 2, 2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in a per curiam opinion. *State v. Brown*, Unpub.Op.No. 2012-UP-262 (Ct.App. May 2, 2012).

Brown filed a motion for post-conviction relief on December 14, 2012, alleging ineffective assistance of both trial and appellate counsel. A hearing on Brown's allegations was held February 19, 2014 in front of the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker. By written order dated April 9, 2014, Judge Welmaker denied relief and ordered Brown's action dismissed.

Brown filed a timely notice of appeal and this petition follows. Based on the following arguments, Brown requests this Honorable Court grant certiorari to the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas and reverse the decision denying post-conviction relief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Trial

Brown's trial began on April 14, 2009, in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions. It was immediately apparent there was a serious problem between Brown and his trial counsel. Brown explained that he was unhappy with the amount of time he was able to spend with his trial counsel prior to his trial.

Brown initially met with his trial counsel in February of 2012. (App. p.8, ll.16-18) The attorney explained it would be a year or more before Brown's case was called for trial. (App. p.8, ll.16-20) The next time Brown met with his attorney was the Wednesday prior to his trial. (App. p.8, ll.20-24) There were two more meetings prior to trial, on Friday and Sunday the weekend before trial began. (App. p.8, l.25 – p.9, l.1) In response to Brown's complaint, the trial judge informed Brown he could proceed to trial that day with his assigned counsel or represent himself. (App. p.11, ll.5-9) The trial judge refused to entertain any motion for a continuance and ordered Brown's trial to begin. He was not receptive to Brown's complaints and was unconcerned with the brief amount of time trial counsel had spent preparing for a trial involving a potential life without parole sentence.

This case involved a home invasion. A number of facts were hotly disputed as the trial progressed. The home invasion began when the victim came home and was approached outside of his house by a masked man with a gun. (App. p.94, ll.6-11) The man allegedly stole \$23,000 from the victim. (App. p.101, ll.18-20)

The first issue at trial was the inability of any of the witnesses to identify Petitioner Brown as the man who was inside the house. The victim was unable to identify the man who tied him up and never saw the man's face. (App. p.100, ll.22-25) A responding police officer, Dan Accord, arrived while the robbery was in progress and was able to see what was going on in the house. (App. p.139, l.1 – p.140, l.5) Accord could not identify the person committing the robbery inside the house. (App. p.152, ll.12-19)

The suspect exited the house and was immediately confronted by police officers. (App. p.141, ll.4-9) The suspect had exited in the front of the house. (App. p.141, ll.10-12) The suspect ran around the house, through the backyard, and into the woods. (App.p.141, ll.21-25; p.142, ll.8-16) The suspect was described as wearing a police-issued bulletproof vest over a blue shirt with gold lettering that appeared to say "police", as well as a mask covering his face. (App. p.142, ll.17-23) After the man ran into the woods, a K-9 officer was dispatched after him. (App. p.143, ll.6-7)

Accord described the officers on the scene waiting for the dog to begin pursuing the suspect before they continued the chase. (App. p.143, ll.7-11) It appears the officers took off after the suspect once the dog had entered the woods in pursuit of the suspect. (App. p.143, ll.11-14)

It was eventually Brown who was located fighting with the police dog, who had caught him and attacked him. (App. p.202, l.6 – p.203, l.10) Police officers testified the bulletproof vest and police shirt were either on Brown or near where Brown was found with the police dog. This would become another major point of contention during the trial.

Trial counsel pointed out through cross-examination of police officer Michael Bryan that the police shirt and bulletproof vest were listed on a forensics reports as having been found in front of the house. (App. p.190, l.20 – p.191, l.9) Another law enforcement witness, Chuck Porter, was questioned about the location of these items at the time of the arrest and admitted his report did not mention the location of the items at the time of the arrest. (App. p.186, ll.9-19) The same witness testified he was not aware of these items being carried to the front of the house where these events occurred. (App. p.286, ll.20-23)

Bryan testified he believed all of the witnesses would testify the vest and the shirt were found in the front of the house, based on the forensics report. (App. p.232, ll.21-25) He also stated no one else would claim to have removed the items from the woods. (App. p.233, ll.1-2) Bryan was unclear as to whether he actually carried the items out of the woods or whether he claimed to have carried the items out of the woods in order to match the location of the evidence with the various stories told by law enforcement related to the items. (App. p.233, ll.2-25)

Other witnesses testified all of these items were found in the front of the residence, not in the woods where Brown was ultimately apprehended. (App. p.246, ll.1-10)

Gerald Brown testified in his own defense. Though the victim had denied knowing Brown at the scene of his arrest, Brown testified he and the victim had known each other their whole life. (App. p.315, l.18 – p.316, l.5) In addition to growing up together, Brown and the victim had conducted drug deals together in the past. (App. p.316, ll.5-6; p.317, ll.5-18) On the night in question, Brown took \$23,000 to Howard's house to buy 54 ounces of cocaine. (App. p.318, ll.17-21)

Brown testified he noticed someone tied up on the floor when he approached the door of Howard's house. (App. 319, ll.2-11) Brown then called his cousin, who had dropped him off at the house. (App. p.319, ll.11-12) Brown's cousin told him to wait in the woods behind the house and he would pick him up as soon as he could return. (App. p.319, ll.13-17) Brown entered the woods behind Howard's house to wait for his cousin. (App. p.319, ll.18-19)

As Brown waited in the woods, he heard police yelling and loud noises and he saw flashing lights. (App. p.322, ll.1-5) Brown ran away from the commotion and was chased and ultimately attacked by a dog. (App. p.322, ll.5-19) Brown testified he was wearing a white shirt at the time of his arrest and it was covered in blood and bite marks from the dog attack. (App. p.324, ll.12-20)

Additional facts relevant to the Petitioner's claims are described in the argument portion of this petition.

ARGUMENT

I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE AT PETITIONER BROWN'S TRIAL.

The standards for considering an application for post-conviction relief are well-settled. The applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in the application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442 (1985). This Court should uphold the PCR court's finding if it is supported by any evidence of probative value. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 119 (1989).

There are two familiar prongs for determining whether trial counsel has rendered ineffective assistance of counsel to an applicant. Petitioner Brown must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Porter v. State*, 368 S.C. 378, 383 (2006).

In this case, there is no question trial counsel rendered deficient performance based on the inadequate time available for pretrial investigation and preparation. Because of this failure to properly prepare for Petitioner's trial, Petitioner was prejudiced in a number of ways described below.

a. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct meaningful pretrial investigation and preparation.

Brown complained prior to the start of his trial that he did not feel comfortable with the amount of time he spent with his trial counsel. At the PCR hearing, Brown reiterated those complaints and expanded on his issues with his trial attorney.

Brown first met his trial counsel in the jail with a group of eight or nine guys. (App. p.629, ll.5-6) They then met for a few minutes individually. (App. p.629, ll.7-8) Brown testified his trial counsel told him he would probably go to trial in a year or a year and a half. (App. p.629, ll.8-9) A few months later, trial counsel returned on a Wednesday and informed Brown they would be going to trial in his case the following Monday. (App. p.629, ll.11-14) He met with Brown a few times over the next several days and trial began. (App. p.629, ll.14-16)

Brown was very concerned about going to trial because he had not sufficiently discussed the case with his attorney. (App. p.631, ll.10-13) He did not get an opportunity to listen to an important 911 tape because his attorney's laptop died before they could listen to the entire tape. (App. p.631, ll.13-16) Brown had not discussed any discovery or the facts of his case with his trial attorney prior to the meeting the week before trial. (App. p.632, l.21 – p.633, l.14) Though he was able to discuss his theory of the case with his attorney right before trial, he and his attorney could not agree on what needed to be done to prepare his defense. (App. p.633, ll.15-23) Obviously, there was no time to resolve these disagreements or develop an appropriate attorney-client relationship when the relevant meetings were taking place the weekend prior to the trial.

Brown's trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing and did not have a significantly different version of events from Brown. Brown had previously been represented by a lawyer he had hired. (App. p.657, ll.17-21) The attorney was appointed to Brown's case in January. At the time, the matter was not set for trial. (App. p.658, ll.8-18) This case came up for trial shortly after the trial attorney was appointed. (App. p.658, ll.19-21)

The trial attorney testified regarding his meetings with Brown. His description of the initial meeting was the same as Brown's description. (App. p.659, ll.2-21) There was apparently another brief meeting that Brown did not testify about. The trial attorney testified they met regarding plea negotiations but it did not last long and there was not a lot of substantive discussion. (App. p.660, ll.3-10)

Brown's trial counsel agreed his next meeting was the Wednesday before trial. He was surprised that the matter was set for trial so quickly. (App. p.660, ll.14-16) He had another trial the week before that was very serious and took up a significant amount of his time. (App. p.660, ll.20-23) Trial counsel also agreed that he had only been informed of a potential witness, Andrell Terry, immediately prior to the trial, though it was not clear in which meeting this took place. (App. p.661, ll.1-8) Though he attempted to have an investigator contact Terry, he was unable to find him. (App. p.661, ll.7-18)

The meetings between Brown and his trial attorney were fairly hostile, as Brown was intent on firing his attorney. (App. p.662, ll.23-25) The lack of time the attorney spent with Brown became critical as he explained the defense asserted at trial. Brown's defense developed as the trial progressed. (App. p.663, ll.6-10) Trial counsel heard a number of relevant facts for the first time because Brown had not been forthcoming with him in the few meetings that took place right before the trial. (App. p.663, ll.21-24) While Brown eventually began to trust his attorney more as the trial progressed, the defense was evolving during the trial. (App. p.664, ll.9-11)

It is clear that only a few hours were spent preparing to defend Brown against charges that carried a sentence of life without parole. There was no evidence to dispute this. Brown's trial attorney was unable to investigate his defense, build a proper attorney-client relationship, or properly discern the details of Brown's trial defense. Even Brown's trial attorney felt that Brown should not have been forced to go to trial under these circumstances. (App. p.663, ll.10-18)

The Court of Appeals has considered a similar issue and determined that the brevity of a trial attorney's preparation is not, by itself, ineffective assistance of counsel. *Smith v. State*, 404 S.C. 493 (Ct.App. 2012). However, the *Smith* case demonstrates that Brown is entitled to relief under in this case.

Specifically, the *Smith* case cites several other cases that demonstrate a petitioner must show the length of time spent consulting with a defendant and preparing for a trial caused actual prejudice. Speculation is not enough; the applicant must show how the outcome of the trial would have been different if counsel had spent more time with the defendant. *Harris v. State*. 377 S.C. 66, 75-76 (2008).

In another case, the Court found trial counsel's lack of preparation did not prejudice an applicant because he did not show any evidence that counsel could have discovered additional defenses or that he had asked for a particular witness to be called at trial. *Jackson v. State*, 329 S.C. 345, 353-54 (1998). The instant case is entirely different. Brown did inform trial counsel he wanted to call a particular witness. As discussed in detail below, the witness was willing to testify

and could have offered a reason for Brown's presence at the scene of his arrest, as well as corroborating Brown's testimony. In addition, trial counsel was clear that he was unable to properly develop a defense in Brown's case prior to trial. He testified he was learning about the case as it progressed, which is a clear indication he was not adequately prepared for the trial. This Court cannot approve of an attorney "winging it" in a life without parole case.

Unlike other cases South Carolina appellate courts have considered involving a failure to adequately investigate a criminal case, an appropriate amount of investigation in this case would have made a difference. See *Skeen v. State*, 325 S.C. 210, 214-15 (1997). Trial counsel clearly testified he was not entirely prepared for trial and did not have the trust of his client. Had counsel spent enough time with Brown to develop a proper attorney-client relationship, Brown's attorney would have been aware of his potential defenses and able to present a competent and effective defense.

b. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to locate and call an exculpatory witness at Brown's trial.

Brown's defense centered on being in the wrong place at the wrong time. While he had a witness who could have corroborated his story, the witness was never called to testify at trial. Brown informed trial counsel his cousin, Andrell Terry, could confirm that he was at the victim's house to buy drugs, not rob the victim. Trial counsel testified he could not locate Terry prior to the trial. However, he did not make an attempt to locate Terry until just a few days before trial. He was unable to conduct this search earlier because it was only a few days before Brown's trial that counsel met with Brown and began preparing for the case.

Terry testified at the PCR hearing that he would have been able to testify that the victim and Brown had known each other for most of their lives. (App. p.600, ll.13-17) This was an important point because the victim testified he did not know Brown when he observed Brown after his arrest. The victim's credibility was an issue, as he claimed he was robbed of a similar amount of money to the amount Brown brought to buy drugs from him. Strangely, it appears the

cash was returned to the victim with little or no question as to whether he actually owned it or its source. (App. p.102, ll.2-12)

Terry also testified about his willingness to explain he had dropped Brown off at the victim's house. (App. p.601, ll.20-22) Brown had shown the \$23,000 in his possession to Terry as they drove the victim's house. (App. p.602, ll.9-19) Terry also described Brown's clothing. He was wearing a white T-shirt and jeans. (App. p.604, ll.2-4) Brown was not wearing a bulletproof vest or a dark police shirt, nor was he carrying anything in which such items could have been concealed. (App. p.604, ll.11-25; p.605, ll.1-4) Terry did not see any type of mask. (App. p.605, ll.5-23) Brown did not have a pistol and it did not appear there was anywhere to conceal a pistol. (App. p.605, l.24 – p.606, l.7) Finally, Brown was not carrying a Taser when Terry dropped him off, which was one of the weapons alleged to have been used against the victim during the robbery. (App. p.606, ll.8-14)

Terry would have testified to all of these facts at Brown's trial. He was not contacted by Brown's attorney. (App. p.607, ll.7-15) His phone number had not changed and he testified he was fairly easy to get in touch with, as he answered his phone regardless of whether he knew who was calling. (App. p.607, l.16 – p.608, l.1) Terry lived at the same address he did during the trial and never had any idea someone was trying to contact him regarding the trial. (App. p.608, ll.2-12)

There was no question Brown intended for Terry to testify at his trial. In fact, he discussed it on the record with his trial counsel during his jury trial. After the solicitor appeared to have implied Terry was available as a witness and had not been called, Brown testified he and his lawyer had discussed calling Terry as a witness, but were unable to locate him. (App. p.355, l.24 – p.356, l.5)

As discussed earlier, mere speculation about what would have happened differently with more time to prepare is not enough. An applicant must present affirmative evidence of what would have been different. *Harris*, 377 S.C. at 75-76. Brown did just that at his PCR hearing. He presented a witness who would have corroborated his story and theory of defense. There was no

question this was a favorable witness. Terry would have testified about what Brown was wearing, which became a critical issue in the trial. It is clear from the testimony of both Terry and trial counsel that the extremely limited time counsel had to locate Terry prevented him from being called as a witness. This is directly related to counsel's failure to meet with his client until a few days before trial and constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

c. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to discovery and point out serious inconsistencies in the victim's testimony.

As mentioned earlier, the victim in this case claimed he did not know Brown prior to his arrest. As demonstrated by Terry's testimony, Brown and the victim had grown up together and he was obviously familiar with Brown. In addition to Terry, Brown had other witnesses that could testify Howard knew Brown and had grown up with him. In fact, Brown's sister used to date Howard. (App. p.636, ll.19-25)

The victim's failure to admit knowing Brown was important evidence in his trial. Had he believed it was Brown that robbed him, it would have made no difference whether or not he admitted to knowing Brown. On the other hand, if Brown was going to the victim's house to buy a large amount of drugs, it would have made perfect sense for the victim to deny knowing Brown. This denial allowed him to keep the large amount of money found outside of his house and avoid any trouble over involvement in the drug trade.

This evidence should have been brought out in front of the jury in order to support Brown's testimony. Because the defense was evolving, based on the lack of pretrial preparation, trial counsel did not effectively make this point, which would have bolstered Brown's defense.

d. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce critical evidence at Brown's trial.

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