RECEIVED

MAY 18 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000925

Gerald Brown,..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

III. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have highlighted inconsistencies in the victim's testimony.

Petitioner argues trial counsel should have questioned the adult victim (or called other witnesses) to demonstrate this victim knew Petitioner. (Pet. Cert., p.13). This argument is without merit.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated he had known the adult victim for years and had gone there that night “to conduct a drug deal.” (App.pp.616-18). Petitioner stated the adult victim was lying when he told police he did not know Petitioner. (App.p.620). Petitioner stated he had witnesses who could have disputed the adult victim’s statement that he did not know Petitioner. (App.pp.636-37).

Trial counsel testified Petitioner told him that he had known the adult victim for years. (App.p.661). Trial counsel testified, however, Petitioner may not have told him this until during the trial. (App.pp.674-75). Trial counsel testified that “given the circumstances of the case, it didn’t really matter how long they knew each other.” (App.p.662).

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have contacted witnesses in order to refute the adult victim’s contention that he did not know him.” The PCR judge agreed with trial counsel that this was not a big issue in this case, especially in light of “the State’s presentation of overwhelming evidence of [Petitioner]’s guilt.” The PCR judge noted “as these potential witnesses did not testify at the PCR hearing, [he] could not speculate as to what they would have testified to at trial.” (App.p.697).

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have questioned witnesses about whether he and the adult victim knew each other. As noted by the PCR judge, this Court cannot speculate as to whether witnesses (other than Terry) would have testified to a prior relationship between Petitioner and the adult victim because these alleged witnesses did not testify at the PCR

hearing. See Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998) (the South Carolina Supreme Court “has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness’ failure to testify at trial.”) (emphasis in original). Further, to the extent that Petitioner is arguing trial counsel should have questioned the adult victim about whether they knew each other, this allegation is without merit. Petitioner failed to demonstrate how eliciting this potential testimony would have changed the outcome of the case. None of the three victims identified Petitioner as the individual who restrained them within their own home, tasered the adult victim, and threatened the juvenile victims. There is no reasonable probability the result of Petitioner’s trial would have been different if trial counsel had asked the adult victim whether he knew Petitioner. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by trial counsel’s performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. at 389, 570 S.E.2d at 174.

IV. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have introduced his t-shirt into evidence at trial.

Petitioner argues trial counsel should have introduced into evidence the white t-

shirt he was wearing when he was arrested because it “would have made a far more compelling point in favor of the defense theory.” (Pet. Cert., p.15). This argument is without merit.

At trial, the adult victim stated the home intruder was wearing a shirt that said “police” and the juvenile victim testified this person was wearing (1) a shirt that said “sheriff or police” on the front and (2) a vest. (App.p.90; p.94; p.106). Master Deputy Acord testified he arrived at the scene while the intruder was in the house and could see he was wearing a “police issued bullet proof type vest and he had a shirt on, which appeared to have police written on it.” (App.p.140). Master Deputy Acord testified an individual fled the home (with the same clothing description) and entered the woods. (App.pp.142-43). Master Deputy Acord testified he saw Petitioner in the woods – without his mask but wearing the same clothing. (App.p.144). Officer Porter testified an individual wearing a vest ran into the woods outside the victims’ home and he found Petitioner struggling with several police officers and a police dog inside the woods. (App.pp.168-72). Officer Porter testified that, Petitioner was rolled over, he could see “body armor laying underneath him” and that “[h]e also had on a shirt or remnants of a shirt that had the word police written across the front in yellow letters.” (App.p.173). Officer Bryan testified an individual wearing a vest and a shirt with “the letters police under the vest” ran into the woods. (App.pp.197-98). Officer Bryan testified – once they finally subdued him – Petitioner was wearing “the torn shirt” and was atop one of the body armor panels. (App.p.202). Officer Bryan testified Petitioner was wearing a torn white shirt while he was being treated by EMS and he “believe[d] they were removing the

other stuff off of him.” (App.p.209). K-9 Officer Harris testified someone wearing “a T-shirt that said police on it” ran from the house to the woods, and he and his police dog were in pursuit. (App.pp.286-88). Officer Harris testified Petitioner was wearing a dark shirt when he was apprehended. (App.p.291). The blue police shirt and bulletproof vest were admitted into evidence at trial. (App.pp.175-76).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated he was wearing a white t-shirt when he was arrested and that “[i]t mas messed up. Blood all over it, soaked.” (App.p.627). Petitioner stated he discussed the t-shirt with trial counsel but did not recall trial counsel “saying anything about it.” (App.p.638; p.640). Petitioner stated the t-shirt was important because if he also “had on a bulletproof vest and the blue t-shirt, they would have had some blood on them, as well.” (App.p.638).

Trial counsel testified he did not recall why he did not offer Petitioner’s white t-shirt into evidence. (App.pp.664-65). Trial counsel testified, however, that there was testimony that “his t-shirt was very bloody.” (App.p.675).

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found not introducing the t-shirt into evidence “was not deficient in light of the fact that [Petitioner] was hostile with trial counsel during trial preparation and the trial itself.” The PCR judge found Petitioner could not prove prejudice because (1) trial counsel argued in closing statements that the police shirt would have been bloody and (2) the State presented “overwhelming evidence of [Petitioner]’s guilt.” (App.pp.696-97).

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have moved the white t-shirt into evidence. Petitioner did

not prove trial counsel was deficient. Petitioner failed to articulate how introduction of the white t-shirt would have somehow invalidated the officers' testimony that he was seen wearing the blue police shirt in the woods. Further, one can clearly infer a strategic reason trial counsel did not enter the white t-shirt into evidence. Trial counsel argued to the jury in closing statements that neither the blue police shirt nor the vest had blood on them but that Petitioner was bleeding and taken to the hospital. (App.p.389). Trial counsel also noted to the jury that the State had not offered Petitioner's bloody, white t-shirt into evidence. (App.p.389). Trial counsel argued if Petitioner had been wearing the blue police shirt and vest, "it would have bled through." (App.p.390). A strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel does not have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record show a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record. See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290, 130 S. Ct. 841 (2010). Regardless, Petitioner also failed to demonstrate he was prejudiced by the lack of the white t-shirt in evidence because the State presented overwhelming evidence of his guilt.⁴ See Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 367, 409 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1991) (concluding reasonable probability of a different result does not exist when there is overwhelming evidence of guilt); cf. Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 325, 680 S.E.2d 5, 8 (2009) (holding no prejudice occurs, even if trial counsel was deficient, where there is otherwise overwhelming evidence of the

⁴ Petitioner suggested one of the jury's questions led him to believe they were focusing on a discrepancy between the blue police shirt and white t-shirt. (App.p.643). This suggestion, however, is pure speculation and unsupported by either the trial record or any evidence or testimony presented at the PCR hearing. See Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. at 349, 495 S.E.2d. at 770 (finding "[m]ere speculation and conjecture on the part of [the applicant] is insufficient" to substantiate an allegation).

defendant's guilt).

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. at 389, 570 S.E.2d at 174.

V. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving appellate counsel was ineffective.

Petitioner argues appellate counsel was ineffective because the issue of the accomplice liability jury charge was not raised on appeal. (Pet. Cert., p.15). This argument is without merit.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated the trial judge's hand of one is hand of all jury charge "put a phantom accomplice there." (App.pp.645-46). Petitioner stated appellate counsel should have raised the issue of the jury charge on appeal. (App.p.645; p.648).

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of finding appellate counsel was ineffective. The PCR judge found Petitioner failed to prove appellate counsel as deficient. Further, the PCR judge concluded the proposed argument would not have been successful on appeal. (App.pp.698-99).

A defendant is constitutionally entitled to effective assistance of appellate counsel.

Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S. Ct. 830 (1985). In analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the Court applies the Strickland test just as it would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. See Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009); Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 616, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999) (noting courts apply the Strickland test to determine if appellate counsel was deficient for failing to raise an issue and whether the defendant was prejudiced from the failure to raise the issue).

“Although it is possible to bring a successful ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim based on failure to raise a particular issue on direct appeal, the Supreme Court has reiterated that it is ‘difficult to demonstrate that counsel was incompetent.’” United States v. Mason, No. 3:06–607–CMC, 2012 WL 5845807 at *1 (D. S.C. Nov. 19, 2012) (quoting Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 288, 120 S. Ct. 746, 765 (2000)). Appellate counsel is not required to raise every non-frivolous claim, but instead may select among them in order to maximize the likelihood of a favorable outcome. Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. at 288, 120 S. Ct. at 765; Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. at 309, 680 S.E.2d at 276. “Generally, only when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome.” Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. at 288, 120 S. Ct. at 765 (quoting Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir. 1986)). “To establish prejudice relating to the actions of appellate counsel, Defendant must establish a reasonable probability that, but for his counsel’s unreasonable failure to include a particular issue on appeal, he would have prevailed on his appeal.” United States v. Mason, 2012 WL 5845807 at *1.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving appellate counsel was ineffective. Petitioner did not pass the difficult threshold of proving appellate counsel was incompetent merely because he did not raise the issue of the accomplice liability jury charge. See id. This issue would have been meritless on appeal because the trial judge was correct in charging the jury with accomplice liability. The juvenile victim testified at trial the intruder called someone while he was in their house. The juvenile victim stated:

So he called someone on the cell phone. He was like he's not giving us the right money.

(App.p.82).

The adult victim stated he told the intruder there was some money in the attic and that he could hear the intruder go into the attic. The adult victim stated:

And he came back and he made a phone call. Because he got the money, he made a phone call and he called someone and said – he said, He's acting like all he's got is 20,000 or something he said. So he stayed on the phone maybe 15, 20 seconds and he came back and he asked me, you know, where is the real money?

(App.p.98). The State requested the accomplice liability charge be given to the jury and the trial judge agreed (over trial counsel's objection). (App.pp.366-68). This jury charge was supported by the evidence. In State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 76-77, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76 (1998), the supreme court approved a broad accomplice liability charge that stated, "... if a crime is committed by two or more persons who are acting together in the commission of a crime, then the act of one is the act of both." As the testimony adduced at trial supported an accomplice liability charge, the trial judge had a duty to issue this charge.

State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding a trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and is supported by the evidence). As such, this issue would not have been successful on appeal. Petitioner cannot demonstrate he was prejudiced as a result of the jury charge issue not being raised on appeal because he cannot establish this issue would have changed the outcome of his appeal. See United States v. Mason, 2012 WL 5845807 at *1.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that appellate counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by appellate counsel’s performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of appellate counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. at 389, 570 S.E.2d at 174.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues discussed above.